MAY 18 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

WALLACE L. WILLIAMS, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 81,592

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLEN P. GIFFORD ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #0664261

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION (ON THE BRIEF) FLORIDA BAR #197890 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mark Andrews, of Naval Intelligence Services, was working with Orange Park police officer Mark Cornett on undercover purchases of cocaine on January 7, 1991. (R118) Cornett set Andrews up with a car, money and a confidential informant. (R121, 136) Andrews testified that he and the informant, Bernard Reese, pulled into the driveway at the home of Wallace Williams, the appellant. (R122) Reese spoke privately with Williams, who then asked Andrews what he wanted. (R122) Andrews said he wanted \$30 worth, and Williams told them to meet him in five minutes near the duplex. (R122)

Andrews and Reese arrived first. Andrews testified that Williams arrived and stopped his car across the railroad tracks. (R122) Andrews testified that the car driven by Williams was the same one that had been parked at his house minutes earlier. (R129) An elementary school was nearby. (R125) The time was between 8:00 and 8:30 p.m. (R127) A passenger got out of Williams' car, went to Andrews and sold him a \$20 piece of crack cocaine. (R123) The passenger then returned to Williams' car, and appeared to exchange something with Williams. (R123) Andrews left the area and met Cornett. (R126)

Cornett testified that he watched the transaction from a vantage point nearby. He said he recognized Williams' car at the scene, but could not tell if Williams was inside it. (R146, 158) He said he was out of view of the participants. (R148-150) Cornett testified that the exchange occurred 372 feet from the property of the elementary school. (R152) He also testified that

after arresting appellant on February 20th, appellant recalled the incident and admitted his participation. (R153, 158)

Bernard Reese, the informant, testified for the defense. He stated that when he approached Williams to ask about purchasing cocaine that night, Williams said he didn't sell drugs. (R184) Reese and Andrews left Williams' house and continued to drive through the area until they met Carlos Floyd. (R185) Floyd agreed to meet Reese at Reese's house (the transaction site). Minutes later Floyd arrived there, approaching on foot. (R186)

Cletis Watson, a defense investigator, testified that he had surveyed the area just before trial and considered it impossible for Cornett to have seen any activity at the alleged transaction site from his purported vantage point. (R197-205) The defense introduced photographs of the scene, as well as a chart used by Andrews in his deposition. (R200, 210)

In rebuttal, Cornett testified that he could see the transaction site, because rises in the land enabled him to see over a privacy fence in some spots. (R215) He also testified that some of the woods in the area provided him perfect cover to watch without being seen. (R219) Andrews testified that he did not know where Cornett was standing during the transaction. (R226)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner's sentence of life imprisonment without parole as a habitual offender for sale of cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school violates the prohibition against cruel or unusual punishments contained in article I, section 17 of the Florida Constitution. The state constitutional provision gives greater protection to individuals than its federal counterpart in part because it is phrased in the disjunctive, not the conjunctive. Moreover, an interpretation of article I, section 17 identical to that of the Eighth Amendment would eviscerate the provision. Therefore, consistent with the principles of federalism and the actions of courts in other states, this Court should determine that Article I, Section 17 permits Florida's appellate courts to undertake proportionality review of non-death penalty sentences.

An unconstitutional punishment under Article I, Section 17 is one which is severe or excessive under the circumstances, and exceptional in the context of the overall scheme of criminal sanctions. Pertinent considerations include the gravity of the conduct underlying the offense and, in the case of a recidivist punishment, the gravity and volume of prior offenses. In short, a proportionality review is required. Under Florida's "cruel or unusual punishment" provision, a proportionality analysis should encompass the first two parts of the test announced by the U.S. Supreme Court in Solem v. Helm. (Part three of the Solem test should not be applied as it is a function of federalism, the operation of 50 independent criminal justice systems within the framework of a national constitution.)

The first consideration under the test proposed herein is the gravity of the offense. Petitioner's offense is a serious one, but not particularly grave in comparison to offenses such as murder, sexual battery or trafficking in large amounts of drugs. Also, appellant's record demonstrates a two-year binge of cocaine possession and sale, but shows no propensity to violence or escalation in the type of crime committed. Another pertinent consideration is the sentences authorized for other crimes in Florida. Even with a record such as appellant's, many more serious offenses are punishable by sentences either equally or less severe than life without parole.

Consequently, petitioner's sentence should be vacated and the case remanded with directions to impose a less severe sanction.

ARGUMENT

A SENTENCE OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT FOR SALE OF COCAINE WITHIN 1,000 FEET OF A SCHOOL CONSTITUTES CRUEL OR UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.²

Petitioner was convicted of sale of cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school on facts showing that he was a principal to the sale of \$20 of crack cocaine at 8:30 p.m. on a Monday night near an elementary school. The offense was enhanced to a first-degree felony for its proximity to the school. The court then found appellant to be a habitual offender and sentenced him to life imprisonment, a sentence for which there is no parole eligibility. Section 775.084(4)(e), Fla. Stat. (1991) His prior offenses, all since 1988, included (in sequence) grand theft; possession of cocaine; sale of cocaine and sale of cocaine within 1,000 feet of school (occurring on successive days and disposed of on the same date); and again sale of cocaine and sale of cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school (with successive case numbers and again disposed of on the same date).

The sentence of life imprisonment without parole for the instant offense violates the prohibition of cruel or unusual punishments contained in article I, section 17 of the Florida Constitution. The argument that follows turns in large part on the distinction between the Florida Constitution, which contains

²This arguments is substantially similar to a nonjurisdictional argument made to this Court in <u>Hale v. State</u>, No. 80,242.

the disjunctive "or," and the Eighth Amendment to the U.S.

Constitution which, phrased in the conjunctive, prohibits cruel

and unusual punishments.

A. INTRODUCTION

The Bill of Rights, or first 10 amendments to the United States Constitution, was adopted in 1791. Florida adopted its first territorial constitution in 1838. Significantly, only 47 years after its federal counterpart, the Declaration of Rights contained in the 1838 constitution prohibited "cruel or unusual punishments," art. I, sec. 12, Fla. Const. (1838). The phrase has survived several major constitutional revisions, including the most recent in 1968. Art. I, Sec. 17, Fla. Const. (1968).

A cursory reading of the first state constitution shows that the framers used the federal Bill of Rights and English common law as a guide for the Declaration of Rights, yet they chose to include the disjunctive "or" and not the conjunctive "and" in prohibiting excessive punishments. Although petitioner has been unable to find an express statement of legislative intent in the archival evidence available from the 1838, 1861, 1865, 1885 and 1968 conventions, one must assume from the available evidence that the phrasing of the Florida provision is no accident. Thus, courts should give effect to this phrasing.

³One scholar has concluded that both the 1838 (territorial) and 1885 (post-Reconstruction) Florida Constitutions were modeled on those in the state of Alabama. D'Alemberte, The Florida State Constitution — A reference Guide (1991), at 4 and 8.

This Court recently noted the disjunctive "or" in article I, section 17, and observed that it indicates that alternatives were intended. <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 167, 169, n.2 (Fla. 1991).

While the legislature has the power to prescribe punishments, this Court has the duty to determine the constitutionality of the resulting scheme:

The separation of powers doctrine requires that the judiciary bear the responsibility of determining the constitutionality of legislation. Simply yielding to legislative discretion is tantamount to a breach of this judicial duty. Accordingly, judicial review has been recognized as necessary to resolve issues concerning the proportionality of sentencing legislation. As one member of the Supreme Court stated: "[J]udicial enforcement of the [cruel and unusual punishments] clause ... cannot be evaded by invoking the obvious truth that legislatures have the power to prescribe punishment for crimes." Furman v Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 269 (1972) (Brennan, J., concurring).

Casenote, 17 <u>U. Balt. L. Rev.</u> 572 (1988), discussing <u>State v.</u> <u>Davis</u>, 530 A.2d 1223 (Md. Ct. App. 1987).

B. FEDERAL VERSUS FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

In a section of his opinion in <u>Harmelin v. Michigan</u>, 501

U.S. ____, 111 S.Ct. 2680, 115 L.Ed.2d 836 (1991) (on which he was joined only by the Chief Justice), Justice Scalia suggested that state constitutional provisions forbidding "cruel <u>or</u> unusual punishment," like those forbidding "cruel and unusual punishment," were not interpreted in the 19th century to prohibit disproportionate punishments. However, a plurality of four justices adhered to at least a semblance of proportionality analysis under the Eighth Amendment in <u>Harmelin</u>. Whatever the historical record, constitutional interpretation is not frozen in

time, either by the divined intent of the drafters or early judicial opinion. The genius of a well-drafted constitution is in its ability to evolve. Cf. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 353 (1967) (electronic device used to record telephone conversations need not physically penetrate a wall to constitute a search and seizure). A state bill of rights becomes a repository for empty platitudes if its provisions are interpreted in lockstep precision with a correlating provision of the federal Bill of Rights. This is particularly true when the U.S. Supreme Court carries a federal constitutional protection one step back.

Via constitutional amendment, Florida has surrendered its courts' power to provide an interpretation of article I, section 12 (1982 amend.) of the state constitution independently of U.S. Supreme Court interpretation of the Fourth Amendment. State v. Jimeno, 588 So.2d 233 (Fla. 1991). In the absence of a constitutional amendment restricting the remaining provisions of the Declaration of Rights to the prevailing Supreme Court interpretation of the Bill of Rights, these provisions remain independently viable. Augmenting these principles is the fact, explored above, that section 17 is worded differently from the Eighth Amendment in terms giving greater protection to individuals. This Court should hew to that wording.

In <u>State v. Lavazzoli</u>, 434 So.2d 321, 323 (Fla. 1983), this Court noted that in construing our former constitutional exclusionary rule, "the courts of this state were free to provide its citizens with a higher standard of protection from

governmental intrusion than that afforded by the federal constitution."

In State v. Kinchen, 490 So.2d 21, 23 (Fla. 1985), former Justice Ehrlich noted:

We are not bound by the federal court's construction of the federal constitution in interpreting analogous provisions of our organically separate state constitution, nor are we precluded from providing greater safeguards for individual liberties than those required by the federal constitution.

See also his concurring opinion in Shaktman v. State, 553 So.2d 148, 153 (Fla. 1989).

Likewise, in Rose v. Dugger, 508 So.2d 321, 322 (Fla. 1987), this Court noted:

We recognize that this Court has the power and authority to construe our Florida Constitution in a manner which may differ from the manner in which the United States Supreme Court has construed a similar provision in the federal constitution.

Likewise, in <u>In re T.W.</u>, 551 So.2d 1186, 1191 (Fla. 1989), this Court noted:

While the federal constitution traditionally shields enumerated and implied individual liberties from encroachment by state or federal government, the federal court has long held that state constitutions may provide even greater protection. See, e.g., Pruneguard Shopping Center v. Robins, 447 U.S. 74, 81, 100 S.Ct. 2035, 2040, 64 L.Ed.2d 741 (1980) ("Our reasoning ... does not ex proprio vigore limit the authority of the State to exercise its police power or its sovereign right to adopt in its own Constitution individual liberties more expansive than those conferred by the Federal Constitution.").

State constitutions, too, are a font of individual liberties, their protections often extending beyond those required by

the Supreme Court's interpretation of federal law. The legal revolution which has brought federal law to the fore must not be allowed to inhibit the independent protective force of state law -- for without it, the full realization of our liberties cannot be quaranteed.

W. Brennan, State Constitutions and the Protection of Individual Rights, 90 Harv. L. Rev. 489, 491 (1977).

This Court has recently, strongly reaffirmed the principle that our Declaration of Rights operates independently of the federal Bill of Rights and may provide our citizens with greater protection. Traylor v. State, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992). Under Traylor, this Court has the duty to look first to the Declaration of Rights in assessing the limits of state power against the individual. Id. at 962.

"Cruel or unusual punishment" differs from "cruel and unusual punishment." Justice Scalia noted the distinction in Harmelin, 115 L.Ed.2d at 864 ("Severe mandatory penalties may be cruel, but they are not unusual in the constitutional sense") Justice Scalia also noted an 1892 South Dakota decision interpreting a provision of that state's constitution which forbade merely cruel punishments as authorizing proportionality review. In Florida, the constitution forbids punishments that are either cruel or unusual. The experience of other states with the same or similar constitutional provisions may prove useful to this Court in fashioning a test under Article I, Section 17.

C. THE LAW FROM OTHER STATES

As stated in Rubin, <u>Law of Criminal Correction</u> at 423 (2d ed. 1973) (footnotes omitted):

The prohibitions contained in the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution are found in one form or another -- sometimes elaborate, most often terse -- in the Bill of Rights or Declaration of Rights of all the state constitutions, except in Illinois, Vermont, and Connecticut. Nineteen states proscribe cruel "or" unusual punishment. Twenty-two states prohibit cruel "and" unusual punishment. Six states prohibit only "cruel" punishment, making no mention of "unusual." In Illinois, the constitution provides that "all penalties shall be proportional to the nature of the offense;" Vermont has no constitutional provision on the matter but the state Supreme Court has said that the English Bill of Rights is a part of the common law and as such is applicable; Connecticut has no constitutional provision and no case directly in point, but in a case in which the constitutionality of a statute enhancing the penalty for a second offense was an issue, the highest court in the state quoted with approval the statement: "Nor can it be maintained that cruel and unusual punishment has been inflicted."

If one looks at the state constitutions of the thirty-six states which authorize the death penalty, fourteen prohibit cruel or unusual punishment; fifteen prohibit cruel and unusual; five prohibit only cruel; and two (Illinois and Connecticut again) have no provisions. Acker and Walsh, "Challenging the Death Penalty under State Constitutions," 42 Vander. L. Rev. 1299, 1321 (1989). Courts in many of these states have construed the provisions to encompass proportionality review of non-death sentences.

In <u>Workman v. Commonwealth</u>, 429 S.W.2d 374 (Ky. Ct. App. 1968), the defendants, both 14-year-old juveniles, challenged their life sentences without parole for rape as cruel punishment. The state constitution at the time prohibited only cruel, but not unusual, punishment:

[E]xcessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel punishment inflicted.

Kentucky Constitution, section 17.

The court first noted that it had never before declared a statutory punishment excessive. The court then noted that it, much like Florida appellate courts, had held that the maximum penalty for crimes was within the discretion of the legislature and not subject to judicial review. Nonetheless, the court acknowledged that it had the power to strike down excessive punishments:

[T]here nevertheless can be sentences so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock the moral sense of the community. When this occurs the punishment would seem to fall within the prohibition of section 17 of the Constitution of Kentucky.

429 S.W.2d at 377.

The court set forth the following proportionality test for "cruel" punishment under its constitution:

The first approach is to determine whether in view of all of the circumstances the punishment in question is of such character as to shock the general conscience and to violate the principles of fundamental fairness. This approach should always be made in light of developing concepts of elemental decency. This resolves itself into a matter of conscience and the principles to be applied to the individual case without a lot of attention to ancient authorities. ...

The next approach is likewise one of conscience but the test pits the offense against the punishment and if they are found to be greatly disproportionate, then the punishment becomes cruel and unusual. ...

The third test is, does the punishment go beyond what is necessary to achieve the

aim of the public intent as expressed by the legislative act?

429 S.W.2d at 378; citations omitted.

Applying this test, the court found that life without parole for juveniles convicted of rape constituted cruel punishment in violation of the Kentucky Constitution. The court left the life sentences intact but ordered that the offenders be eligible for parole.

In <u>State v. Mims</u>, 550 So.2d 760 (La. Ct. App. 1989), the defendant sold \$20 worth of marijuana to the police, and a search of his home revealed 1.7 pounds of the same illegal substance. He was convicted of sale and possession with intent to distribute, and received consecutive nine year sentences, for a total of 18 years, under that state's habitual offender statute. The court pondered whether such a sentence was excessive under its state constitution:

A sentence is unconstitutionally excessive in violation of La. Const. 1974 Art. 1, § 20 if the sentence is grossly out of proportion to the severity of the offense or nothing more than the needless and purposeless imposition of pain and suffering. ... A sentence is considered grossly disproportionate if, when the crime and punishment are considered in light of the harm done to society, it is so disproportionate as to shock the sense of justice.

550 So.2d at 763. While not directly passing on the constitutional argument, the court remanded for the judge to reconsider his sentence in accord with the habitual offender statute, which required the judge to particularly justify his sentence and tailor it to the particular defendant.

California courts have conscientiously examined excessive sentences under that state's constitution. In In re Grant, 553 P.2d 590 (Cal. 1976), the defendant was sentenced as a repeat drug offender to life without parole for 10 years for selling marijuana. He had a prior conviction for possession of marijuana and a prior conviction for sale of restricted dangerous drugs. The court addressed the argument only under the state constitutional provision, which was remarkably similar to the disjunctive phrasing of the Florida provision:

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