047  
**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

JUN 11 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALLACE L. WILLIAMS, JR.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO.: 81,592

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

✓ CHARLIE MCCOY  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0333646

✓ JAMES W. ROGERS  
BUREAU CHIEF  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS  
THE CAPITOL  
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050  
(904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### I. Exercise of Jurisdiction by this Court

This court should decline to reach the certified question. Claims that a sentence is disproportionate or excessive unavoidably challenge the application of the statute authorizing the penalty imposed. Moreover, such claims are highly factual; involving the number and type of a defendant's current and past offenses, the sentences imposed on similarly-situated felons, and events unique to each case.

Appellant did not object to his individual sentence before the trial court. The propriety of his punishment is not preserved for review. By seeking relief through a certified question, Petitioner unavoidably seeks relief on an unpreserved issue: the constitutionality of the habitual felon statute as applied to him. While this court has discretionary jurisdiction, it should decline to exercise it.

### II. Separation of Powers

The literal distinction between the phrase "cruel or unusual" punishment in the Florida Constitution, and the phrase "cruel and unusual" punishment in the U.S. Constitution, does not authorize proportionality reviews of statutorily authorized, non-death sentences. Such review would violate the separation of government powers required by Art. II, §3, Fla. Const.

By statutorily authorizing a sentence, the Legislature has implicitly determined that such sentence does not "shock the community's sense of justice." It is not the prerogative of the judiciary to formulate different public policy. The answer to the certified question is NO.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS  
JURISDICTION TO ANSWER THE CERTIFIED  
QUESTION.

Petitioner, a repeat felon who sold cocaine near a school, seeks an historically incorrect interpretation of the state constitution based, ultimately, on a non-preserved issue. Consequently, this court should not exercise its jurisdiction to reach the certified question.<sup>1</sup>

Before the trial court, Petitioner did not object to his sentence on any legal ground, but merely asked that court to show leniency by sentencing him within the guidelines. (R 304-6). No challenge to the sentence imposed (life) was made on any legal ground. (R 310).

Regardless of whether Petitioners' constitutional attacks are deemed to challenge his sentence as cruel or unusual, or as disproportionate, such attacks are highly factual. They unavoidably challenge the habitual felon statute as applied. Petitioner implicitly concedes this very late in his brief (p. 27-9). He expressly addresses his current offense, and his prior criminal record. He then speculates, without record support, that "much worse and longer prior records may be found [in other cases]." (initial brief, p. 29). He then compares his sentence

---

<sup>1</sup> In its order of April 23, 1993, this court postponed its decision on jurisdiction.

to the statutorily-permitted sentence for other crimes under Florida law. (initial brief, p. 29).

A challenge to the statute as applied could not be stated more clearly. Appellant is very precisely arguing that his sentence is cruel or unusual under the facts of this case. Regardless of nomenclature, he is challenging the habitual felon statute's constitutionality as applied to him. His failure to raise this issue below precludes review by this court. Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1129-30 (Fla. 1982)("The constitutional application of a statute to particular set of facts is another matter and must [e.s.] be raised at the trial level."). See Randi v. State, 182 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966)(appellant's contention that rape statute authorized cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment not raised before, or passed upon by, trial court; therefore the issue could not be raised for first time on appeal). See State v. Johnson, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S234, 235 (Fla. Ap. 8, 1993)(noting that Trushin requires constitutional challenges to statutes as applied to be raised in the trial court). See also Forehand v. State, 537 So. 2d 103 (Fla. 1989)(since a hearing was required to determine the nature of a Texas conviction, appellant's sentencing issue could not be raised for the first time on appeal, when alleged error did not result in an "illegal sentence or unauthorized departure from the sentencing guidelines"), quoting, State v. Whitfield, 487 So. 2d 1045, 1046 (Fla. 1986).

This court should decline to answer the abstract certified question. Even if this court were to announce that appellate courts could engage in proportionality review of statutorily-authorized, non-death sentences, such review would be impossible here. Since no such objection was made before the trial court, the record contains no evidence of the sentences imposed on either other or similarly situated felons. On remand, the First District could not conduct a proportionality analysis on the bare record.

Unlike the procedures required for imposing the death penalty, the trial court was not required to make any findings beyond the statutory criteria for sentencing Petitioner as an habitual felon. There was no comparison of Petitioner's criminal history to the histories of other recidivist felons. The State strongly but respectfully requests this court to decline to reach the certified question.

There is a second, equally compelling reason to decline review. The certified question asks whether an appellate court may undertake proportionality review of a non-death sentence, under Art. I, §17 of the Florida Constitution. In relevant part, Art. I, §17 forbids punishment that is cruel or unusual. Out of an argument comprising 25 pages, Petitioner devotes only two (initial brief, p. 24-5) to his answer to that question. Moreover, he largely concedes the issue when he candidly declares, as to the meaning of "cruel or unusual":

[P]etitioner has been unable to find an express statement of legislative intent in the archival evidence from the 1838, 1861, 1865, 1885 and 1968 conventions.

(initial brief, p. 8). To get around this virtually dispositive concession, Petitioner relies on non-Florida cases. (initial brief, p. 12-24). Not one of those cases addresses separation of powers under the respective state's constitution.

Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32, 34 (Fla. 1985), is particularly instructive on the court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction. As Tillman states, a certified question furnishes jurisdiction to address the decision and, once accepted, the court may review any issue "that has been properly preserved and properly presented." *Id.* Thus, discretionary jurisdiction, which admittedly exists in certified questions, does not excuse failure to properly preserve an issue underlying a certified question. Thus, there is no reason for this court to address the as applied constitutionality of the statute here.

ISSUE II

WHETHER APPELLATE COURT REVIEW OF THE LENGTH  
OF A STATUTORILY AUTHORIZED, NON-DEATH  
SENTENCE VIOLATES THE SEPARATION OF  
GOVERNMENT POWERS REQUIRED BY ART. II,  
SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The certified question asks whether appellate courts may engage in proportionality review of non-death sentences. Petitioner urges an affirmative answer, relying on the Florida Constitution's ban against punishment that is cruel or unusual. With all due respect to the First District and Petitioner, both have missed the issue: whether the length of a statutorily authorized sentence is at all subject to appellate review. The State respectfully suggests that the question be rephrased as set forth above.

Over the decades, this court has repeatedly held that the length of statutorily-authorized (and procedurally correct) sentences cannot be reviewed on appeal. Davis v. State, 123 So. 2d 703, 707 (Fla. 1960):

In a long adhered to line of cases, we have held that where a sentence is within the statutory limit, the extent of it cannot be reviewed on appeal regardless of the existence of aggravating or mitigating circumstances.

\* \* \*

There has been no deviation from the rule . . . since 1943. (footnote omitted).

These pronouncements from Davis are still good law. See McArthur v. State, 351 So. 2d 972, 975-6 (Fla. 1977)(any sentence within



statutory limits will not violate former constitution's ban against cruel or unusual punishment).

Over the decades, this court has repeatedly declined to require proportionality review of non-death sentences. See Tillman v. State, 591 So. 2d 167, 169 (Fla. 1991)(explaining that proportionality review, as a device to prevent the "unusual" imposition of the death penalty rests in part on the uniqueness and irrevocability of the death penalty). The U. S. Constitution does not require proportionality review, even of death sentences. Pulley v. Harris, 465 U.S. 37, 44-5, 104 S.Ct. 871, 79 L.Ed.2d 29 (1984). See Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 111 S.Ct. 2680, 115 L.Ed.2d 836, 864 (1992)(expressly declining to extend proportionality review to non-death case).

Nothing in Florida's constitutional history or this court's jurisprudence indicates that Art. I, §17 ever contemplated proportionality review of non-death sentences. Petitioner concedes this by noting his inability to find any "archival evidence" in the documentation from this state's constitutional conventions. (initial brief, p. 8).

With these basic points in mind, which the State submits should conclusively end the inquiry, the State will return Petitioner to reality by supplying the factual omissions relevant to this case. In addition to the instant case of selling crack cocaine within 1000 feet of an elementary school, Petitioner has five prior felony convictions: three for cocaine sale, one for grant theft, and one for cocaine sale within 1000 feet of a

school. (R 40-86, 93, 298, 307). These convictions occurred in no more than three years, from 1988 to mid-1991 (R 307); at which time Petitioner was only 20 years old. (R 303). Thus, Petitioner is a repeat felon who sells cocaine. Only 20 years old, he was early into his thus-far nonviolent criminal career. The reality is that petitioner is an habitual offender who has richly earned a long term of imprisonment which removes him from society.

#### A. INTRODUCTION<sup>2</sup>

Petitioner begins by discussing whether the Florida constitutional ban against punishment that is cruel or unusual is substantively different from the U. S. constitutional ban against punishment that is cruel and unusual. He candidly concedes that he was "unable to find an express statement of legislative intent in the archival evidence available from the 1838, 1861, 1865, 1885 and 1968 conventions." (initial brief, p. 8). He counters with the hollow assumption that this state's choice of phrasing was "no accident." (initial brief, p. 8).

What is no accident is the fact that no Florida court decision -- before the dicta in the Tillman footnote, *supra*, -- ascribed any substantive difference to the literal distinction between the two constitutional phrases. As urged below, Tillman did so in reliance upon questionable authority. What Tillman

---

<sup>2</sup> From this point forward, the State's answer will follow Petitioner's format. Sections A through F herein correspond to sections A through F of Petitioner's single issue.

also did, however, was to premise the existence of proportionality review on the unique and irrevocable nature of the death penalty:

We have described the "proportionality review" conducted by this Court in every death case as follows:

Because death is a unique punishment, it is necessary in each case to engage in a thoughtful, deliberate proportionality review *to consider the totality of circumstances in a case, and to compare it with other capital cases.* [e.o.]

\* \* \*

Moreover, proportionality review in death cases rests at least in part on the recognition that death is a uniquely irrevocable penalty, requiring a more intensive level of judicial scrutiny or process than would lesser penalties. Art. I, §9, Fla. Const.; *Porter*.

Proportionality review also arises in part by necessary implication from the mandatory, exclusive jurisdiction this Court has over death appeals. Art. V., §3(b)(1), Fla. Const. The obvious purpose of this special grant of jurisdiction is to ensure the uniformity of death-penalty law by preventing the disagreement over controlling points of law that may arise when the district courts of appeal are the only appellate courts with mandatory appellate jurisdiction. *See id.* Thus, proportionality review is a unique and highly serious function of this Court, the purpose of which is to foster uniformity in death-penalty law.

*Id.* at 169. (e.s.).

From this quote, it is obvious that proportionality review is not required absent the death penalty. That such review is not permitted is but a few short steps in logic: the first being the uncontroverted fact that Art. I, §17 contains no express authorization for proportionality review; the second, that this court does not have exclusive mandatory jurisdiction over non-death appeals as it does over death cases. Art. V, §3(b), Fla. Const.; §921.141(4), Fla. Stat. Nor is scope of review as wide as in death cases. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(t) ("In capital cases, the court shall review the evidence to determine if the interest of justice requires a new trial, whether or not insufficiency of the evidence is an issue presented for review.").

Long-standing precedent is also squarely against Petitioner. In Brown v. State, 13 So. 2d 458 (Fla. 1943), four years' imprisonment for possessing untaxed moonshine was upheld against a claim that the sentence violated section 8 of the Florida Constitution's Declaration of Rights. *Id.* at 460-1. That section provides:

**Excessive bail, fines, etc.; cruel punishment.** -- Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines be imposed, nor cruel or unusual punishment or indefinite imprisonment be allowed, nor shall witnesses be unreasonably detained. [e.s.]

With little difficulty this Court rejected Brown's claim declaring:

'As a general rule, in cases where the objection is to the particular sentence, . . .

. a sentence which is within the limit fixed by statute is not cruel and unusual and is therefore valid, no matter how harsh and severe it may appear to be in a particular case, because the constitutional prohibition has reference to the statute fixing the punishment, and not to the punishment assessed. . . .' [e.s.]

Id. at 461, quoting, 15 Am.Jur. 174, §526.

Brown is very significant for several reasons. First and most obvious, it squarely rejects Petitioner's contention on the merits, while construing identical language from the 1885 Constitution. Second, it employs the phrase "cruel and unusual" without regard to the difference (i.e., use of "or") in the 1885 Constitution. This interchangeable use of the two words strongly implies their lack of substantive difference. See Cross v. State, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380, 386 (Fla. 1928) ("Nor is the punishment prescribed by the statute a cruel or unusual punishment in the sense prohibited by the constitution." [e.s.]). Third, Brown recognizes that in non-death cases, the challenge is to the statute, not the proportionality of the particular sentence.

Finally, Brown was decided in 1943. The critical language was not changed in the 1968 Constitution adopted by popular referendum. Therefore, this Court's holding in Brown is controlling as to the 1968 Constitution. Absent express amendment to that constitution, this Court cannot ascribe a new meaning to the phrase "cruel or unusual." See Reed v. Fain, 145 So. 2d 858, 868 (Fla. 1961):

It has been held, and we think with propriety, that 'the judicial interpretation of constitutional provision is so forcible that, where a new Constitution is adopted without change of the rule laid down by the courts, the construction is adopted by the new Constitution and becomes part of it to the degree that it cannot be changed even by a statute expressly undertaking to do so.' Quoting, Lyle v. State, 80 Tex.Cr.R. 606, 193 SW 680.

Brown and Fain stated the constitutional law as it existed when the voters of Florida adopted this 1968 constitution. This court cannot now retroactively rescind the results of that 1968 election. See also, Kluger v. White, 281 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973)(adoption of 1968 Constitution had the effect of incorporating existing rights of access to courts, thus severely restricting the power to abolish such rights). If the Legislature, the representative branch of government, cannot by statute change the people's implicit ratification of constitutional law decisions by this court; then this court -- not a representative entity -- cannot alter such ratification. Separation of powers prevents such.

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